ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Clarendon County

Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
DEC 21 2018
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

JON SMART

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-001754

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOANNA K. DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred in sentencing Appellant to life without parole for an offense committed as a juvenile after a resentencing hearing where the court misapprehended and misapplied the requirement to consider the family and home environment that surrounded Appellant as demonstrated by the court disregarding the testimony of Dr. Price and discounting the testimony of Appellant's sister about Appellant's impoverished and drug-ridden family and home life, despite the absence of contradictory evidence?

2.

Whether the court erred in sentencing Appellant to life without parole for an offense committed as a juvenile after a resentencing hearing where the court misapprehended and misapplied the requirement to consider the chronological age of Appellant and the hallmark features of youth, including immaturity, impetuosity, and the failure to appreciate the risks and consequences, by failing to give youth constitutional significance?

i.

Whether the court erred where it disregarded testimony from the only expert in the case that Appellant had a neurocognitive disorder which resulted in him being cognitively much younger than his chronological age?

ii.

Whether the court erred where it considered Appellant's drug use as aggravating rather than mitigating?

iii.

Whether the court erred where it disregarded testimony from the only expert in the case that Appellant had a reduced capacity to conform his conduct to the law and appreciate the wrongfulness of his actions at the time of the offense?

3.

Whether the court erred in sentencing Appellant to life without parole for an offense committed as a juvenile after a resentencing hearing where the court failed to place the burden of proving Appellant irreparably corrupt beyond a reasonable doubt on the state, and where the court did not find Appellant was irreparably corrupt, since that conclusion is necessary to sentence a juvenile to life without parole?

4.

Whether the court erred in sentencing Appellant to life without parole for an offense committed as a juvenile after a resentencing hearing where the court misapprehended and misapplied the requirement to consider Appellant's possibility of rehabilitation, since the court disregarded testimony by the only expert in the case that it was his opinion based on a reasonable degree of medical certainty that Appellant could be a productive member of society if released from prison?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 25, 2001, Appellant pleaded guilty before the Honorable Kenneth Goode to the offenses of murder, armed robbery, grand larceny of a motor vehicle, criminal conspiracy, and escape, which occurred on August 12, 1999. R. 1; R. 401 – 403. Judge Goode relinquished jurisdiction and on August 9, 2001, the Honorable Thomas W. Cooper, Jr., sentenced Appellant. R. 25; R. 148, ll. 2-11. Appellant was represented by Frederick Hoefler; C. Kelly Jackson, Greg Hembree, and Barbara Morgan appeared on behalf of the state. R. 25.

Appellant was sentenced to imprisonment for life without the possibility of parole. R. 404. This sentence was negotiated: Appellant pleaded guilty to a negotiated sentence of life without parole in exchange for the state's promise not to seek the death penalty if Appellant cooperated with the state in the investigation of the offenses and the prosecution of his codefendant, and agreed to waive his rights to appeal and post-conviction relief. R. 358, ll. 3-6; R. 349 – 352.

On May 26, 2016, Appellant moved for resentencing pursuant to *Miller v. Alabama*,¹ *Roper v. Simmons*,² *Graham v. Florida*,³ and *Aiken v. Byars*.⁴ R. 181 – 182. The South Carolina Supreme Court issued an order vesting the Honorable D. Craig Brown with exclusive jurisdiction over Appellant's motion for resentencing. R. 183. On May 24, 2017, a resentencing hearing was held: Jack Howle, Jr., represented Appellant, and Ernest Finney, III, appeared on behalf of the state. The court took the matter under advisement. R. 288, ll. 7-8. R. 184, 1.

¹ *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460 (2012).

² *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551 (2005).

³ *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48 (2010).

⁴ *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014).

On August 10, 2017, the court resentenced Appellant to life in prison without the possibility of parole. R. 388, ll. 17-24; R. 404.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for determining whether a sentencing court complied with *Miller* and *Aiken* has not been articulated by the appellate courts of South Carolina. Appellant submits this Court should apply de novo review to the sentencing court's legal conclusions, and the court's factual findings should be given a heightened abuse of discretion standard of review.

"In criminal cases, this Court sits to review errors of law only and is bound by factual findings of the trial court unless an abuse of discretion is shown." *State v. Laney*, 367 S.C. 639, 643, 627 S.E.2d 726, 729 (2006). The appellate courts of South Carolina "review questions of law de novo, with no deference to trial courts." *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 180, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). An abuse of discretion occurs when the court's decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law. *State v. Black*, 400 S.C. 10, 16, 732 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012).

The South Carolina Supreme Court observed: "*Miller* is clear that it is the failure of a sentencing court to consider the hallmark features of youth prior to sentencing that offends the Constitution." *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. at 543, 765 S.E.2d at 576-77. In *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 136 S. Ct. 718, 729-30 (2016), *as revised* (Jan. 27, 2016), the United States Supreme Court said that "when a State enforces a proscription or penalty barred by the Constitution, the resulting conviction or sentence is, by definition, unlawful."

In the wake of *Miller* and *Montgomery*, the appellate courts of several states have addressed the standard of review applicable to an appellate review of a *Miller* determination. These courts have noted *Miller*'s instruction that occasions for imposing a life without parole sentence on a juvenile homicide offender should be "uncommon." *Miller*, at 479.

Like South Carolina, when a legal conclusion presents a mixed question of fact and law because it is premised upon testimony and a court's credibility determinations, Pennsylvania's appellate courts "defer to the findings of fact made by the sentencing court as long as they are supported by competent evidence, but give no deference to that court's legal conclusions." *Commonwealth v. Batts*, 163 A.3d 410, 435-36 (Pa. 2017).

In *Batts*, the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania reasoned that under *Miller* and *Montgomery*, "in the absence of the sentencing court reaching a conclusion, supported by competent evidence, that the defendant will be forever incorrigible, without any hope for rehabilitation, a life-without-parole sentence imposed on a juvenile is illegal, as it is beyond the court's power to impose." *Id.* at 435. The Pennsylvania Supreme Court concluded that an appellate court therefore "must review the sentencing court's legal conclusion that [a juvenile] is eligible to receive a sentence of life without parole pursuant to a de novo standard and plenary scope of review." *Id.*

In *People v. Hyatt*, 891 N.W.2d 549, 576 (Mich. Ct. App. 2016), the Court of Appeals of Michigan "clarif[ied] what the abuse-of-discretion standard should look like in the context of life-without-parole sentences for juveniles." The Michigan Court of Appeals held that a "heightened" degree of scrutiny is needed, even under this deferential standard. *Id.* "[A]ppellate review, although done under the abuse of discretion standard, should consider a juvenile life-without-parole sentence as inherently suspect." *Id.* at 577. The reviewing court is "justifiably skeptical" of a sentence to life without parole for a juvenile; "review of that sentence requires a searching inquiry into the record with the understanding that, more likely than not, a life-without-parole sentence imposed on a juvenile offender is disproportionate." *Id.*

The Iowa Supreme Court recently "elaborate[d] on the use of the abuse-of-discretion standard in the juvenile sentencing context," concluding that it would apply a heightened abuse

of discretion standard of review to a juvenile's sentence after a resentencing hearing. *State v. Roby*, 897 N.W.2d 127, 137-38 (Iowa 2017). “[W]hile the review is for abuse of discretion, it is not forgiving of a deficiency in the constitutional right to a reasoned sentencing decision based on a proper hearing.” *Id.* at 138.

In *Davis v. State*, 415 P.3d 666, 688 (Wyo. 2018), the Supreme Court of Wyoming agreed that in reviewing individualized juvenile sentencing hearings, it would review legal conclusions de novo, and factual determinations for an abuse of discretion with a heightened scrutiny.

Our review is for an abuse of discretion, but will not be lenient. Like the Iowa Supreme Court, we will view the sentence as inherently suspect and demand rigor from the sentencing court in its factual findings, its application of the *Miller* factors, and the ensuing sentence. And, like the Pennsylvania Supreme Court, we will review the sentencing court's legal conclusions de novo.

Id.

The Wyoming Supreme Court and the Michigan Court of Appeals both imported guidance from the Eighth Circuit in *United States v. Haack*, 403 F.3d 997 (8th Cir. 2005), which discussed situations that constitute an abuse of discretion. The Eighth Circuit instructed that a discretionary sentencing ruling may be an abuse of discretion

if a sentencing court fails to consider a relevant factor that should have received significant weight, gives significant weight to an improper or irrelevant factor, or considers only appropriate factors but nevertheless commits a clear error of judgment by arriving at a sentence that lies outside the limited range of choice dictated by the facts of the case.

Id. at 1004; *Davis*, 415 P.3d at 687; *Hyatt*, 891 N.W.2d at 578.

Appellant submits this Court should apply de novo review to the sentencing court's legal conclusions, and the court's factual findings should be given a heightened abuse of discretion standard of review, viewing a juvenile life without parole sentence as inherently suspect.

ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred in sentencing Appellant to life without parole for an offense committed as a juvenile after a resentencing hearing where the court misapprehended and misapplied the requirement to consider the family and home environment that surrounded Appellant as demonstrated by the court disregarding the testimony of Dr. Price and discounting the testimony of Appellant's sister about Appellant's impoverished and drug-ridden family and home life, despite the absence of contradictory evidence.

Statement of facts

At age sixteen, Appellant was charged with murder for beating Tracey Pack (Decedent) to death with a pipe on August 12, 1999. R. 401 – 403. Appellant pleaded guilty to a negotiated sentence of life without parole in exchange for the state's agreement not to seek the death penalty if he cooperated with the criminal investigation and the prosecution of his codefendant. R. 353 – 355.

Appellant moved for resentencing in 2016 pursuant to *Aiken v. Byars*, *Miller v. Alabama*, *Roper v. Simmons*, and *Graham v. Florida*, and a hearing was held before the Honorable D. Craig Brown. R. 184; R. 181 – 183. At that hearing, the court heard from: Tammy Smart, Appellant's sister; David Price, Ph.D., a forensic psychologist; Thomas Burgess, a former Clarendon County Sheriff's investigator; and Joe and Andy Pack, the Decedent's brothers. R. 185.

Appellant's sister Tammy Smart testified about the family and home life that surrounded Appellant. Smart was three years younger than Appellant, and described an environment of physical neglect in which both parents abused drugs. R. 192, l. 25 – 193, l. 5; R. 201, ll. 8-10.

Smart said their parents abused alcohol, marijuana, cocaine, methamphetamine or crank, and crack cocaine. R. 193, ll. 6-15. Appellant's parents sold illegal drugs, and used at least one child to exchange the drugs for money with customers. R. 195, l. 12 – 196, l. 5. Smart also recounted physical abuse: “when they were high, they used to—if we, the kids got on their nerves they would always grab the oldest. That's the reason why [Appellant's older brother] left.” R. 193, ll. 20-22.

Appellant's parents would often leave the children home alone, unsupervised. R. 192, ll. 13-18. “[M]ost of the time I didn't know where my parents were.” R. 192, ll. 11-12. Smart said Appellant took care of her: “he would watch me, get me up for school, you know, make sure I matched and, I mean, fix me food and everything.” R. 192, ll. 18-24. Smart failed school the year Appellant was jailed due to absenteeism. R. 197, ll. 4-7.

Appellant was placed at Rimini Marine Institute by the South Carolina Department of Juvenile Justice (DJJ) for the daytime burglary of a neighbor's home to steal mini-bottles of liquor. R. 150, l. 7 – 151, l. 6; R. 158, ll. 7-9. Appellant's parents were using crank or methamphetamine, and smoking crack when Appellant “got sent away.” R. 193, ll. 13-17. Smart did not see her brother while he was in DJJ custody: “my mom wouldn't go visit him.” R. 198, ll. 17-21. “My parents wouldn't go visit. They wouldn't take me down there.” R. 198, ll. 23-24. Appellant wrote his sister letters from DJJ saying that he was not coming home, but that “he was gonna come and pick me up and take care of me because my parents weren't taking care of me and they weren't taking care of him.” R. 202, ll. 16-24.

Dr. David Price reviewed voluminous records,⁵ interviewed Appellant, performed a forensic psychological evaluation on Appellant, and issued a report of his findings. R. 205, l. 22 – 206, l. 19. Dr. Price was qualified as an expert in clinical psychology without objection,⁶ and he was familiar with *Aiken v. Byars*. R. 205, ll. 12-18; R. 206, ll. 22-25. The state did not present any expert testimony at the hearing. Dr. Price’s forensic psychological evaluation report was made a court’s exhibit, and states that Appellant: “came from a chaotic and dysfunctional family. Drug abuse by members of the family, including parents, indicated the use of marijuana, cocaine, crack cocaine, and methamphetamine.” R. 322.

Dr. Price told the court Appellant “was raised in an atmosphere—he was raised in a drug culture, there were drugs plentiful in the home lying around.” R. 207, ll. 17-20. Dr. Price explained Appellant “lived in an impoverished environment in which a lot of the income went to purchase drugs. There were violent family arguments between his parents over when drugs ran out. His responsibility was to go score more drugs. He was basically unsupervised. He was in and out of school.” R. 208, ll. 1-7.

Dr. Price observed of Appellant’s family: “They’ve all been into drugs. None of them finished high school.” R. 210, l. 25 – 211, l. 1. Appellant’s parents were “certainly modeling a dishonest and unlawful behavior and just a lack of basic parental supervision.” R. 212, ll. 8-10. Dr. Price added that Appellant’s parents even stole from Appellant to buy drugs. R. 212, ll. 5-6. Dr. Price opined Appellant’s substance abuse at the time of the offense was related to his home

⁵ Dr. Price reviewed numerous records regarding Appellant, including: medical, psychiatric, law enforcement, detention, correctional, juvenile justice, and other records. R. 321 – 348.

⁶ Dr. Price’s curriculum vitae was made a court’s exhibit, and reveals he has been a licensed clinical psychologist in South Carolina since 1983, and has extensive experience in psychological, neuropsychological, and forensic evaluations, as well as childhood developmental disorders. Dr. Price also holds academic positions at MUSC and USC Spartanburg. R. 290 – 320.

life. R. 211, ll. 16-25. “It’s exactly related to that. He lived in a, that family had a drug culture, and they used multiple drugs and they would do anything to get it.” R. 211, l. 25 – 212, l. 2.

Appellant’s father, mother, and aunt appeared at his initial sentencing in 2001. R. 158, ll. 15-17. Appellant’s father said that Appellant had a drug abuse problem, and the family asked the burglary victims to press charges in hopes that Appellant would receive drug abuse treatment through DJJ. R. 158, l. 25 – 159, l. 15; R. 159, ll. 21-23. Appellant’s aunt asked the court if Appellant would get help with his drug abuse. R. 164, ll. 20-22.

In resentencing Appellant to life without parole, the court addressed “the second element under *Aiken v. Byars*, the family and home environment surrounding the offender . . .” R. 378, ll. 14-16. The court acknowledged Tammy Smart’s testimony: “that most of the time they didn’t know where their parents were,” that Appellant got her to and from school, and cooked for her. R. 379, ll. 2-7. The court recognized Smart’s testimony “about the drug abuse in the home by her mom and father,” “[t]hat her mom was an alcoholic, and that cocaine was present in the house and home.” R. 379, ll. 8-12. The court recited Smart’s testimony there was crack cocaine in the home, drugs were being sold from the home, and Appellant’s mother used a child to collect the money for drugs from buyers. R. 379, ll. 13-22.

However the court discounted Tammy Smart’s testimony, instead citing the transcript of Appellant’s father and aunt’s requests at Appellant’s sentencing in 2001 that Appellant receive help for drug addiction. R. 380, l. 13 – 382, l. 5. The court said given the family members’ statements in the 2001 transcript, Smart’s testimony before the court May 24, 2017, about “this perceived family life,” “[it] just doesn’t add up.” R. 382, ll. 6-7; R. 382, l. 13. “It’s somewhat difficult for the court to coincide the fact that his own parents would be at the initial sentencing,

that his own parents played a part in having him committed to try to get him some help, if in fact all of this was going on within the home as she said it was.”⁷ R. 382, ll. 7-13.

Appellant’s counsel took exception to this finding by the court. Defense counsel said: “In going over the factors, as far as parents and referring to what they said, obviously, they’re not going to get in court and admit to using drugs and everything else.” R. 389, ll. 2-6. Counsel continued: “I think they were covering up a lot of things there.” R. 389, ll. 8-9.

The court responded: “I understand what you’re saying with regards to parents, and you’re exactly right. I don’t think any parent that’s involved in the drug scene, wherein their kids are going in the same struggle, I think they would try to hide it. But I have a hard time lining up, why would they even come to court. Why would they even come to court, speak on his behalf, tell Judge Jenkins and tell Judge Cooper, he needs help. We need to get him help. That doesn’t to me, it doesn’t line up.” R. 392, ll. 8-17. The court continued: “I have got in essence two different lines of testimonies as it relates to that family background.” R. 392, ll. 18-19.

Discussion

In *Eddings v. Oklahoma*, 455 U.S. 104 (1982), the United States Supreme Court vacated the death sentence of a sixteen-year-old who killed a police officer. Evidence was presented that the defendant experienced a neglectful and sometimes violent upbringing, had a personality disorder, and that his mental and emotional age was younger than his chronological age. *Id.* at 115-16. The Court found this was mitigating evidence that must be considered. “Even the normal 16-year-old customarily lacks the maturity of an adult. In this case, Eddings was not a

⁷ Notably, there is no indication in the record Appellant’s parents or aunt appeared at either of the resentencing hearings in 2017.

normal 16-year-old; he had been deprived of the care, concern, and paternal attention that children deserve.” *Id.* at 116.

In *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551, 578 (2005), the United States Supreme Court held that the “Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments forbid imposition of the death penalty on offenders who were under the age of 18 when their crimes were committed.” The Court reasoned that a juvenile’s diminished culpability and greater prospects for reform make the imposition of the law’s most severe penalty disproportional. *Id.* at 570-71.

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