**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

Appeal from Clarendon County
D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

ORIGINAL

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JON SMART

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2017-001754

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

W. JEFFREY YOUNG
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SHERRIE BUTTERBAUGH
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 101477
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

ERNEST A. FINNEY, III
Solicitor, Third Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
DEC 20 2018
SC Court of Appeals

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

Analysis

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, appellate courts only review errors of law. *State v. Gamble*, 405 S.C. 409, 415, 747 S.E.2d 784, 787 (2013) (citing *State v. Jacobs*, 393 S.C. 584, 586, 713 S.E.2d 621, 622 (2011)). This Court reviews those questions of law *de novo*. *State v. Whitner*, 399 S.C. 547, 552, 732 S.E.2d 861, 863 (2012) (citations omitted).

Appellant Received Appropriate Sentence

In *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460 (2012), the United States Supreme Court held mandatory life without parole sentences for juvenile homicide offenders violated the Eighth Amendment's prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment. 567 U.S. at 465, 470. *Miller* did not categorically bar life sentences for juvenile murderers; rather, the Court held only that a sentencing court is required to "take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison." *Id.* at 480. The Court held a sentencing authority must consider youth as "more than a chronological fact," but also a factor which carries with it immaturity, irresponsibility, and recklessness. *Id.* at 476. Further, the defendant's family background, mental and emotional development, and possibility of rehabilitation must also be considered in assessing his culpability. *Id.* at 476, 478. The Court held a juvenile convicted of murder could still be sentenced to life without parole, but only after an individualized hearing in which the various mitigating factors were considered. *Id.* at 479-80. In other words, *Miller* mandated only that a sentencing court follow a certain process before imposing a particular penalty. *Id.* at 483.

Two years later, our Supreme Court held *Miller* applied retroactively to juveniles in South Carolina previously sentenced to life without parole. *Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 540-41, 765

S.E.2d at 575. Acknowledging *Miller* applied only to mandatory sentencing schemes rather than discretionary schemes such as ours, our Court stated "whether their sentence is mandatory or permissible, any juvenile offender who receives a sentence of life without the possibility of parole is entitled to the same constitutional protections afforded by the Eighth Amendment's guarantee against cruel and unusual punishment." *Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577. The Court held juveniles previously sentenced under our discretionary scheme who received a life without parole sentence were nevertheless entitled to resentencing to allow them "to present evidence specific to their attributes of youth and allow the judge to consider such evidence in light of its constitutional weight." *Id.* at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577. The Court determined the factors in *Miller* were those which must be considered during the hearings, such as the offender's age and other features of youth, family life, circumstances of the crime, understanding of the legal process, and possibility of rehabilitation. *Id.* at 544-45, 765 S.E.2d at 577-78. Just as the *Miller* court held, our Court explained juveniles could still receive life without parole, but only after "an individualized hearing where the mitigating hallmark features of youth are fully explored." *Id.* at 545, 765 S.E.2d at 578.

In 2016, the United States Supreme Court held its rule in *Miller* was retroactive on state collateral review. *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 136 S.Ct. 718, 736 (2016). It is notable the Court, when revisiting its holding in *Miller*, did not take the opportunity to constitutionally require judges to make *any* specific or formal factual findings when imposing sentences in juvenile homicide cases. *See id.* at 735 (explaining a sentencing court is not constitutionally required to make any specific findings of fact on the record when sentencing a juvenile offender pursuant to the guidelines of *Miller*). The Court also noted *Miller* did not require trial courts to make a finding of fact regarding a child's permanent incorrigibility, which speaks "to the degree of

procedure *Miller* mandated in order to implement its substantive guarantee." *Id.* A mandatory life sentence was problematic because it "disregard[ed] the possibility of rehabilitation even when the circumstances most suggest it," i.e. for all but the rare juvenile offender. *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 478.

Appellant received the appropriate sentence given the serious nature of the charges against him and following a thorough individualized sentencing hearing that explored all five of the *Miller* factors. Appellant, a juvenile homicide offender, received the relief mandated by the Supreme Court and the constitution. Defense counsel presented testimony from a clinical psychologist and a family member. Not only did Dr. Price review numerous records and the plea transcript, he also met with appellant seven times and performed psychological testing. (R.p.203; p.206; pp.321-48). The resentencing judge made specific findings on the record based on the *Miller* factors. (R.pp.358-388); *see also Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577 (quoting *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 477-78) (listing the factors a sentencing court must consider including; (1) the age of the offender and the hallmark features of youth; (2) his family and home environment; (3) the circumstances of the homicide offense, including the extent of the offender's participation; (4) the offender's ability to deal with legal process; and, (5) the possibility of rehabilitation). The judge then stated based on his findings, his reading of the record, and the testimony presented at the resentencing hearing, it was his ruling that appellant "remain incarcerated for the balance of his natural life" for the murder charge. (R.p.388). The record demonstrates the judge acted within his discretion to tailor a sentence appropriate for appellant given all the information he had before him. Our Supreme Court in *Aiken* noted it was not prepared to set out "a definite resentencing procedure," but explained it trusted trial courts to exercise their discretion wisely to sentence juveniles within "the new constitutional

jurisprudence." *See Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 545 n.10, 765 S.E.2d at 578 n.10 ("We have the utmost confidence in our trial judges to weigh the factors discussed herein and to sentence juveniles in light of this new constitutional jurisprudence."); *see also Wasman v. United States*, 468 U.S. 559, 563 (1984) (holding a judge or sentencing authority is to be accorded very wide discretion in determining an appropriate sentence, and must be permitted to consider any and all information that reasonably might bear on the proper sentence for the particular defendant, given the crime committed).

Contrary to appellant's argument in his brief, the resentencing judge did not ignore or misapprehend any of the evidence before him. Taking the five *Miller* factors individually, the judge found:

1. Hallmark features of youth: the resentencing judge explained he considered Dr. Price's testimony when examined appellant's youth, including his immaturity and impetuosity surrounding his age of sixteen. (R.pp.371-72). The judge also detailed Dr. Price's testimony about appellant's drug use, prior evaluations, and other history. (R.pp.373-74). The judge noted Dr. Price's opinion appellant's ability to make decisions was influenced by huffing gas, family life, diagnosis of attention deficit disorder, and frontal lobe damage due to drug use. (R.pp.371-74). Dr. Price opined appellant could appreciate the wrongfulness of his actions which was evidenced "by the way he hid the body," and his efforts were a continuation of his drug use and series of impulsive decisions. (R.pp.238-39). However, the judge found Dr. Price failed to fully evaluate appellant to determine if any frontal lobe damage actually existed where he acknowledged an MRI was never conducted and might have been beneficial to his diagnosis. (R.pp.374-75). The judge found appellant was immature, but reviewing "all of the information pertaining to this

case, reveals that it was not a sudden or rash action" to commit murder given the evidence which revealed appellant and his co-defendant planned the crime. (R.pp.375-p.377).

2. Home and family environment: the resentencing judge also recounted the testimony of appellant's sister regarding their parent's drug use, their absence, and general home life. (R.pp.378-79). The judge found the sister's testimony was inconsistent with her father's statements from the first sentencing hearing about the part the family played in trying to get appellant into a drug treatment program. (R.pp.379-82). It can be inferred this was a credibility finding as it relates to appellant's sister, but there is no corresponding finding as it relates to their father because he did not testify before the resentencing judge at the hearing. The facts of this case are distinguishable from the post-conviction relief (PCR) case used by appellant in his brief to argue the judge made a credibility finding related to the father. Here, the resentencing judge made no comment about the father's testimony whereas the PCR judge actually found the victim's testimony credible. (*Compare* R.pp.378-82 with *Thompson v. State*, 423 S.C. 235, 246-47, 814 S.E.2d 487, 493 (2018)). Similarly, the contention in appellant's brief the judge ignored Dr. Price's testimony regarding appellant's home life is without merit. First, appellant's sister was in the best position to give the judge information about the family environment rather than a third party such as Dr. Price who would have relayed secondhand information. Second, as noted above, the judge, in fact, considered the "drug culture" that Dr. Price testified appellant grew up around and appellant's family life in his findings for the "hallmark features of youth" factor as he specifically referenced it, so it cannot be said the judge ignored the testimony.

3. Circumstances of the crime: while appellant does not analyze the resentencing judge's consideration of this factor in his brief, the judge properly detailed facts from the record about the murder, and described the participation of appellant and his co-defendant. (R.pp.360-71). The judge stated he reviewed the first sentencing transcript "in its entirety," so he could take it into account as well as the testimony from the resentencing hearing. (R.p.361). The judge noted it was appellant who struck and killed the victim and the young men worked together to hide the body. (R.pp.362-64).
4. Incompetency of youth: the resentencing judge found there was little concern regarding this factor because appellant gave statements to police, there was a plea agreement he and plea counsel signed, and there was no indication from counsel he was not able to assist or understand the proceeding. (R.pp.382-84). Moreover, Dr. Price also agreed appellant was competent at the time he plead guilty, and explained he understood the plea proceeding and could assist his attorney. (R.pp.233-34; pp.347-48).
5. Possibility of rehabilitation: the resentencing judge did not discount or misapprehend Dr. Price's testimony regarding the possibility of appellant's rehabilitation. However, the judge took the opportunity to note the inconsistencies in Dr. Price's statements. The judge explained Dr. Price testified appellant had made cognitive improvements since incarceration because he had stopped using drugs and opined appellant could be a productive member of society, yet it was not until cross-examination that Dr. Price admitted appellant was still using drugs while incarcerated, including inhalants. (R.pp.384-88; p.388). The court noted appellant's lengthy disciplinary history while incarcerated, which included two escape attempts, assaults, use of contraband, and other charges, which Dr. Price did not acknowledge until asked by the court. (R.pp.386-88).

The court found appellant "has taken no efforts while incarcerated for rehabilitation" given his disciplinary record. (R.p.388).

As the record demonstrates, the resentencing judge did not abuse his discretion in sentencing appellant to life without parole for murder. The judge carefully considered the *Miller* factors as he was constitutionally required to do. The judge actually evaluated, based on the testimony presented and the previous record, appellant's youth and attendant circumstances, and took into account the particularized evidence about appellant to determine if he was capable of demonstrating maturity and rehabilitation. *See Miller*, 567 U.S. at 480 (explaining courts must "take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison").

The point of evaluating the *Miller* factors is to decide if, given a defendant committed murder for which he is criminally responsible despite his juvenile status, a life sentence is proportionate for the particular defendant because he does not demonstrate the propensity for rehabilitation as required. *Montgomery*, 136 S.Ct. at 737. The Supreme Court left it to the states to develop appropriate procedure to enforce the constitutional restriction on the sentencing a juvenile under the age of eighteen to life without parole. *Montgomery*, 136 S.Ct. at 735-36. Appellant received the individualized sentencing hearing as constitutionally required. Specifically regarding rehabilitation, no one testified why or how appellant demonstrated the required propensity for rehabilitation or maturity beyond Dr. Price's testimony appellant could be a productive member of society, without any supporting evidence beyond appellant's cognitive recovery due to less drug use. (R.p.210; pp.213-14). However, there was testimony regarding appellant's failure to conform to the guidelines and rules within SCDC by Dr. Price's acknowledgment in cross-examination and during examination by the judge about appellant's

disciplinary record while incarcerated, including two escape attempts. (R.p.229, p.241; p.257, lines 7-23; pp.349-52). As our Court in *Aiken* recognized, "Our General Assembly has made the decision that juvenile offenders may be sentenced to life without parole, and we honor that decision," but *Miller* requires an individualized sentencing hearing where the hallmark features of youth are explored before a life without parole sentence is imposed on a juvenile homicide offender. *Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 545, 765 S.E.2d at 578. Our Supreme Court set forth the necessary procedure to ensure juveniles are afforded protection under the Eighth Amendment which appellant received. Therefore, because the record demonstrates the resentencing judge did not misapprehend or ignore any of the testimony or evidence in the record before him, and because the judge followed the proper procedure in determining appellant's sentence, the judge did not err in sentencing appellant to life for murder.

II.

Did the circuit court err in failing to make a finding of irreparable corruptibility where such a finding is not required by our case law prior to sentencing a juvenile to life without parole and the burden is not on the State to prove appellant is irreparably corrupt beyond a reasonable doubt?

The resentencing judge did not err in failing to make a finding that appellant was permanently incorrigible because the Supreme Court does not mandate such a finding nor does *Miller* put the burden of proving irreparable corruptibility beyond a reasonable doubt. The judge considered all evidence before him before sentencing appellant. That included inconsistencies in testimony regarding the possibility of rehabilitation and a lengthy disciplinary record while incarcerated that was not in keeping with the "central intuition" of *Miller* that juveniles who commit even violent crimes are capable of change. Accordingly, appellant's sentence is not cruel and unusual punishment under the Eighth Amendment and the judge did not err in his sentencing determination.

Analysis

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, appellate courts only review errors of law. *Gamble*, 405 S.C. at 415, 747 S.E.2d at 787 (citing *Jacobs*, 393 S.C. at 586, 713 S.E.2d at 622). This Court reviews those questions of law *de novo*. *Whitner*, 399 S.C. at 552, 732 S.E.2d at 863 (citations omitted).

No Finding of Permanent Incorrigibility Required

As discussed above, while the Supreme Court requires an examination of specific factors prior to sentencing a juvenile to life without parole, it does not constitutionally require formal fact findings. The Court did not mandate the procedure necessary to ensure only "permanently incorrigible" children were sentenced to life without parole. *See Montgomery*, 136 S.Ct. at 735.

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